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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
To the City Council 
City of Pacifica  
Pacifica, California 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the government activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Pacifica (City), as 
of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the accompanying table of contents. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the City’s management.  Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial 
statements based on our audit. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. 
  
In our opinion, the basic financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the City as of June 30, 2011 and the respective changes in 
financial position and cash flows where applicable, thereof, for the fiscal year then ended in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
As discussed in Note 1 of the notes to the basic financial statements, effective July 1, 2010, the City 
adopted the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 54, Fund 
Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions and Statement No. 59, Financial 
Instruments Omnibus. 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 31, 
2011, on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal 
control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of 
our audit. 
 

http://www.mlhcpas.com/
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Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis, Other Postemployment Benefits - Schedule of Funding Progress, general fund 
budgetary comparison schedule, and gas tax special revenue fund budgetary comparison schedule on 
pages 3 through 16, page 65, and pages 66 through 68 respectively be presented to supplement the 
basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is 
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of 
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, 
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express 
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us 
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City’s basic financial statements.  The general capital improvement capital projects fund 
budgetary comparison schedule, redevelopment agency - Rockaway Beach capital projects fund 
budgetary comparison schedule, debt service fund budgetary comparison schedule, combining and 
individual nonmajor governmental fund financial statements and schedules, internal service fund financial 
statements, introductory section, and the statistical section are presented for purposes of additional 
analysis and are not required parts of the basic financial statements.  The general capital improvement 
capital projects fund budgetary comparison schedule, redevelopment agency - Rockaway Beach capital 
projects fund budgetary comparison schedule, debt service fund budgetary comparison schedule, 
combining and individual nonmajor governmental fund financial statements and schedules, and the 
internal service fund financial statements are the responsibility of management and were derived from 
and related directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial 
statements.  The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial 
statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the information is 
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.  The 
introductory section and statistical section have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on them. 
 

 
 
Moss, Levy & Hartzheim LLP 
Culver City, California 
December 31, 2011 
 
    



CITY OF PACIFICA, CALIFORNIA 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 

 3 

 
The following discussion and analysis of the financial performance of the City of Pacifica provides an 
overview of the City’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011.  Please read it in 
conjunction with the transmittal letter and financial statements identified in the accompanying table of 
contents. 
 
Using the Accompanying Financial Statements 
 
This annual Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) consists of a series of financial statements.  
The Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities provide information about the activities of 
the City as a whole and present a longer-term view of the City’s finances.  Also included in the 
accompanying report are fund financial statements.  For governmental activities, the fund financial 
statements tell how these services were financed in the short term as well as what remains for future 
spending.  Fund financial statements also report the City’s operations in more detail than the government-
wide statements by providing information about the City’s most significant funds.   
 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
After the introductory section, the annual report consists of five parts – the independent auditor’s report, 
management’s discussion and analysis (this section), basic financial statements including notes and 
required supplementary information, an optional section that presents combining statements for non-
major governmental funds and internal service funds, and a statistical information section.  The basic 
financial statements include two kinds of statements that present different views of the City: 
 
 The first two statements are government-wide financial statements that provide both long-term and 

short-term information about the City’s overall financial status. 
 The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on individual parts of the City 

government, reporting the City’s operations in more detail than the government-wide statements. 
 

o The governmental fund statements tell how general government services like public safety 
were financed in the short term as well as what remains for future spending. 

o Proprietary fund statements offer short-term and long-term financial information about the 
activities the government operates like businesses, such as the sewer system. 

 
The financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the financial 
statements and provide more detailed data.  The statements are followed by a section of required 
supplementary information that provides additional financial and budgetary information related to the 
General Fund and the Gas Tax Special Revenue Fund. 
 
Reporting the City as a Whole 
 
The accompanying government-wide financial statements include two statements that present financial 
data for the City as a whole.  One of the most important questions asked about the City’s finances is, “Is 
the City, as a whole, better off or worse off as a result of the fiscal year’s activities?”  The Statement of 
Net Assets and the Statement of Activities & Changes in Net Assets report information about the City as 
a whole, and about its activities in a way that helps answer this question.  
 
These statements include all assets and liabilities using the full accrual basis of accounting, which is 
similar to the accounting used by most private-sector companies.  All of the current fiscal year’s revenues 
and expenses are taken into account, regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
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These two statements report the City’s net assets and changes in them.  You can think of the City’s net 
assets – the difference between assets and liabilities – as one way to measure the City’s financial health, 
or financial position.  Over time, increases and decreases in the City’s net assets is one indicator of  
 
whether the City’s financial health is improving or deteriorating.  You will need to consider other non-
financial factors, however, such as changes in the City’s property tax base and the condition of the City’s 
roads, to assess the overall health of the City. 
 
In the Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities & Changes in Net Assets, we divide the 
City’s services into two kinds of activities: 
 
 Governmental activities – Most of the City’s basic services are reported here.  Sales taxes, property 

taxes, state subventions, and other revenues, which finance most of the governmental activities. 
 Business-type activities – The City charges a user fee to customers to help it cover all or most of the 

cost of the services accounted for in these funds. 
 
Reporting the City’s Most Significant Funds 
 
The fund financial statements provide detailed information about the City’s most significant funds – not 
the City as a whole.  Some funds are required to be established by State law or by bond covenants. City 
Council establishes many other funds to help control and manage money for particular purposes, or to 
show that administrative responsibilities are being met for using certain taxes, grants, or other money.  
The City’s funds can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and 
fiduciary funds.    
 
 Governmental funds – Most of the City’s basic services are reported in governmental funds, which 

focus on how money flows into and out of these funds and the balances left at fiscal year-end that are 
available for spending.  These funds are reported using the modified accrual basis of accounting, 
which measures cash and all other current financial assets that can readily be converted to cash.  The 
governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view of the City’s general government 
operations and the basic services provided.  Governmental fund information helps the reader 
determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to 
finance the City’s programs.  We describe the relationship or differences between governmental 
activities as reported in the Statement of Activities & Changes in Net Assets, and governmental funds 
as reported in the Statement of Net Assets, in a reconciliation of governmental funds statement. 

 
The governmental funds financial statements and reconciliation may be found on pages 20 to 23 of 
this report. 

 
 Proprietary funds – When the City charges customers for services it provides – whether to outside 

customers or to other units of the City – these services are generally reported in proprietary funds. 
Proprietary funds are reported in the same way that all activities are reported in the Statement of Net 
Assets and the Statement of Activities & Changes in Net Assets.  The City’s enterprise funds (a 
component of proprietary funds) are the same as the business-type activities we report in the 
government-wide statements, but provide more detail and additional information such as cash flows 
for the proprietary funds.  We use internal service funds (the other component of proprietary funds) to 
report activities that provide services and supplies exclusively to the City’s other programs and 
activities.  These revenues are eliminated in the City-wide financial statements, and any related 
profits or losses are returned to the activities which created them, along with any residual net assets of 
the internal service funds. 

 
The proprietary fund financial statements may be found on pages 27 to 30 of this report.   
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 Fiduciary Funds – Are used to account for assets held by the City in trustee or custodial capacity for 

individuals, private organizations, other governments, and/or other funds.  Fiduciary funds are not 
reflected in the City-wide financial statements because the resources of those funds are not available 
to support the City’s programs.  Accordingly, only assets and liabilities and changes in assets and 
liabilities are reported for these funds. 
 
The fiduciary fund financial statements may be found on pages 31 and 32 of this report. 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to the full understanding 

of the information provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 

 

The notes to the Basic Financial Statements may be found on pages 33 to 63 of this report. 
 
Economic Future: 

 

The State of California continues to be in fiscal crisis and will be, over the coming months, determining 

how to deal with significant financial shortfalls.  The City of Pacifica will continue to be impacted by the 

State’s crisis.  There were several actions taken by the State that impacted the City’s finances including 

delay of payments and suspension of SB 90 mandates, and elimination of Redevelopment Agencies.  

Payment delays essentially result in transfer of interest earnings by the City to the State.   

 

The City anticipates flat revenue from interest earned in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF).  The 

City of Pacifica, as well as many of other cities, deposits funds with LAIF, the State Investment Pool.  

The City also anticipates the probable reduction in property tax revenue as recently acquired properties 

are assessed at lower property values and non-transferred property reassessments are completed through 

the County.  The “trickle down effect” of the economic slow down will continue to influence the City’s 

revenue from property taxes to permitting for remodeling. 

 

The City began budget reductions in March of 2007 to address an ongoing annual structural deficit of 

$2.8 million.  In January 2010, a citizen taskforce developed and recommended to the City Council a five-

year financial plan that addressed the structural deficit through a combination of reductions or caps in 

personnel expenditures, three new revenue measures and use of general reserves to bridge the first three 

years of the deficit.  The City Council adopted the five-year financial plan and began implementation of 

the plan with labor negotiations and measures presented to voters and property owners.  The City 

successfully negotiated six new labor contracts that significantly reduced or capped personnel related 

expenditures through salary reductions, pension cost sharing and benefit plan restructuring in accordance 

with the five-year plan.  In November 2010, voters approved an increase to the Transient Occupancy Tax 

(TOT), the first of the three revenue measures.  In April 2011, property owners did not support a Fire 

Suppression Assessment and the City Council, per the Financial Plan, reduced the FY 2011/12 Budget by 

$1.5 million.  The citizen taskforce has started to revise and develop a new five year financial plan in light 

of the Fire Suppression Assessment failure. 

 

The City of Pacifica is addressing several new mandated and necessary expenditures.  Pacifica, along 

with all cities, is addressing its liability in regards to Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB), which 

include pension and retiree medical.  The City has worked with an actuary to determine the liability, and 

in an effort to stabilize pension costs issued Pension Obligation Bonds in May of 2010. The City is 

currently on a “pay as you go” budgeting method of accounting for retiree health costs.  The City does not 

anticipate an unmanageable result of the study because the City, unlike many cities, does not pay the full 
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cost of health insurance for retired employees and many employees participate in non-City union health 

and welfare programs. 

 

On the horizon is the need to address a major capital project at the Waste Water Treatment Plant for the 

replacement of the UV disinfection system.  The City is working with PGE and the California Energy 

Commission to determine possible funding strategies for this project.  The City must also continue to 

address long-term debt obligations it has for the construction of the sewage treatment plant, police station 

and other capital projects. 

 

Highlights of the past fiscal year are as follows: 

 

 Total City assets exceeded its liabilities by $78.1 million.  Of this amount, $2.7 million represents 

unrestricted net assets. 

 Statement of governmental activities show revenues at $28.4 million compared with total 

expenses of $31.2 million resulting in a decrease in total net assets from operations for the current 

fiscal year of approximately $2.8 million. 

 Total Governmental Fund balances were $5.8 million at fiscal year-end, a decrease of  

$2.7 million from the previous fiscal year. 

 General fund revenues were $25.3 million compared with general fund expenses of $25.2 million, 

transfers out of $3.1 million, resulting in a net decrease in fund balance of $3 million, for an 

ending fund balance of $4.1 million, as shown on page 24 of this report.  

 
Analysis of Net Assets 
 
Net assets are a measure of a government’s financial position and, over time, a trend of increasing or 
decreasing net assets is an indicator of the financial health of the organization.  The City of Pacifica’s 
assets exceeded liabilities by $78,128,035.  A statement of net assets is presented in the following table. 
 

Statement of Net Assets 
June 30, 2010 and 2011 

 
Table 1 

 

  Governmental Governmental Business - Type Business - Type   Primary  Primary 

  Activities Activities Activities Activities   Government Government 

  2010 2011 2010 2011   2010 2011 

Current and other Assets $      38,804,271 $      35,422,530  $        11,513,037  $          11,582,463   $     50,317,308  $     47,004,993  

  Capital Assets             69,170,305  

            

68,384,214  

                

46,584,274  

                

45,934,687    
           

115,754,579  
           

114,318,901  

         Total Assets     107,974,576      103,806,744        58,097,311        57,517,150       166,071,887     161,323,894  

Long-term Debt Outstanding 

              

44,280,964 

              

42,811,807 

            

37,911,034              36,566,306    

           
82,191,998  

           
79,378,113  

Other Liabilities 

                 

2,470,855  

                 

2,591,899  

                

1,237,291  

                

1,225,847    

               
3,708,146  

               
3,817,746  

         Total Liabilities    46,751,819     45,403,706       39,148,325       37,792,153       85,900,144     83,195,859  

Net Assets:                                                                             

    Invested in Capital , Net of Debt             51,393,206  

            

53,739,513  

               

11,247,270  

               

14,179,807    
            

62,640,476  
            

67,919,320  

    Restricted               4,962,287  

              

7,557,974  

                   

562,485                     0    
               

5,524,772  
               

7,557,974  

    Unrestricted               4,867,264  

             

(2,894,449)  

                

7,139,231 

                

5,545,190   
              

12,006,495  
               

2,650,741  

Total Net Assets  $  61,222,757   $  58,403,038   $   18,948,986   $   19,724,997     $  80,171,743   $  78,128,035  

 

Net assets invested in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, equipment and infrastructure) of $67,919,320 

(page 17) represents the cost of these assets, less any outstanding debt used to acquire those assets.  The 
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City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available 

for future spending.  Resources needed to repay the outstanding debt must be provided for from sources 

other than the related assets, because the capital assets themselves cannot be used to repay these debts.   

 

Restricted net assets of $7,557,974 represent resources that are subject to external restrictions on how 

they may be used.  The remaining balance of unrestricted net assets of $2,650,741 may be used to finance 

day-to-day operations without constraints established by debt covenants, enabling legislation, or other 

legal requirements. 

 

Total Primary Government net assets decreased by a total of $2,043,708.  This decrease in the City’s net 

assets is made up of a decrease of $2,819,719 from current fiscal year governmental activities plus an 

increase of $776,011 from business-type activities.  The governmental activities net assets decreased 

4.6% from $61,222,757 at June 30, 2010 to $58,403,038 at the end of June 2011.  The net assets of the 

City’s business-type activities increased 4.1% from $18,948,986 at June 30, 2010 to $19,724,997 at June 

30, 2011, as shown in Table 2 below.  Net assets of Total Primary Government activities, which include 

both Governmental Activities and Business-Type Activities, decreased 2.5% from $80,171,743 at June 

30, 2010 to $78,128,035 at June 30, 2011.   
 

The net assets (financial position) of the City changed as a result of the revenue and expense fluctuations 

by $2,043,708 as shown in the table below for the governmental and business-type activities of the City. 
 

A summary of the Government-wide Statement of Activities & Changes in Net Assets follows: 

 

Activities & Changes in Net Assets – Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2010 and 2011 

 

Table 2 

 

 

Governmental Governmental Business-Type Business-Type Total Primary Total Primary Total

Activities Activities Activities Activities Government Government %

2010 2010 2010 2011 2010 2011 Change

Program Revenues:

   Charges for Services 3,721,499$    4,058,439$     11,367,645$        11,694,198$       15,089,144$        15,752,637$        4%

   Operating Grants 1,884,748             1,980,279              1,884,748            1,980,279            5%

   Capital Grants 4,049,601             2,348,301              4,049,601            2,348,301            -42%

General Revenues: -                       -                       

   Property Taxes 10,603,749           10,564,253            10,603,749          10,564,253          0%

   Sales and Use Taxes 1,306,611             1,434,710              1,306,611            1,434,710            10%

   Franchise Taxes 1,372,885             1,565,634              1,372,885            1,565,634            14%

   Other Taxes 2,604,443             2,712,005              2,604,443            2,712,005            4%

   Use of Money & Property 211,681                192,620                 22,451                 25,872                234,132               218,492               -7%

   Motor Vehicle in Lieu-unrestricted 3,107,767             3,195,730              3,107,767            3,195,730            100%

   Other General Revenues 341,313                324,709                 341,313               324,709               -5%

   Transfers 45,000                  -                         (45,000)                -                      -                       -                       0%

       Total Revenues 29,249,297           28,376,680            11,345,096          11,720,070         40,594,393          40,096,750          -1%

Program Expenses

   General Government 4,625,471             4,212,498              4,625,471            4,212,498            -9%

   Planning & Development 1,402,574             1,549,299              1,402,574            1,549,299            10%

   Public Safety 15,149,459           14,460,040            15,149,459          14,460,040          -5%

   Public Works 4,801,291             4,881,082              4,801,291            4,881,082            2%

   Parks, Beaches & Recreation 3,681,863             3,919,199              3,681,863            3,919,199            6%

   Sewer Operations 9,658,229            10,944,059         9,658,229            10,944,059          13%

   Debt Services 1,777,280             2,174,281              1,777,280            2,174,281            22%

      Total Expenses 31,437,938           31,196,399            9,658,229            10,944,059         41,096,167          42,140,458          3%

          Increase(Decrease) Net Assets (2,188,641)            (2,819,719)             1,686,867            776,011              (501,774)              (2,043,708)           307%

          Prior period adjustment (1,056,976)            -                         -                       -                      (1,056,976)           -                       -100%

 Beginning Net Assets 64,468,374           61,222,757            17,262,119          18,948,986         81,730,493          80,171,743          -2%

Ending Net Assets 61,222,757$         58,403,038$          18,948,986$        19,724,997$       80,171,743$        78,128,035$        -3%
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Governmental Activities 
 
Revenues for the City’s governmental activities decreased by $872,617 from $29,249,297 in 2010 to 
$28,376,680 in 2011.  Total Primary Government revenue decreased by $497,643, from $40,594,393 in 
2010 to $40,096,750 in 2011.  Total governmental program expenses decreased by $241,539 from 
$31,437,938 in 2010 to $31,196,399 in 2011.  The cost of all primary governmental activities in fiscal  
year 2009-2010 was $41.1 million compared to $42.1 million for the fiscal year 2010-2011.  The amount 
that taxpayers ultimately financed for these activities through City taxes was $19.5 million, as some of the 
costs were paid for by those who directly benefited from the programs ($15.8 million), or by other 
governments and organizations that subsidized certain programs with grants and contributions ($4.3 
million).  The net changes in assets for both governmental and business type activities amounted to a 
$2,043,708 decrease in total net assets. 
 
The reasons for significant changes in the revenues and expenses of the City’s governmental activities 
presented above are as follows: 
 

 Charges for Services were up by $336,940 from the previous fiscal year. Fire OES reimbursements 
were down by $81,800 due to decreased Mutual Aid Fire Emergencies.  Police OES 
reimbursements were up by $55,800 due to the San Bruno PG&E pipe explosion assistance through 
Mutual Aid.   Police DUI and Booking fees were up approximately $4,000 due to State collection 
guideline changes. Vehicle Code Fines were down by $19,200 due to lower incidents.  General 
Public Safety services were up by $51,400. Community Development services were up by $19,400 
due to increased activity.  Recreation Fees were up by $235,300 due to the reopening of 
Community Pool and increase in fees.  Business License Fees were down by $22,600 due to the 
elimination of processing fees mid-year.  Sales of Maps and Publications were up by $1,100 due to 
the addition of map kiosks. Planning Application Fees were up by $23,000, Plan Checking Fees 
were up by $33,900, Planning Legal Fees were up by $5,500, and General Plan Maintenance Fees 
were up by $10,700 due to increases in respective fees.  Engineering and Inspection Fees were up 
by $6,400 due to an increase in activity. Municipal Facility Fees were up by $13,100 due to 
increased activity.  

 Operating Grant revenues in total were up by $95,500 from the previous fiscal year. General 
Government was down by $103,000 due mainly to a decline of $84,800 in Fines and Penalties and 
another $14,200 decrease from changes in the garbage Franchise Agreement.  Public Safety was up 
$12,500 due to an increase in State Post reimbursements.  Public Works was down by $2,700.  
Parks, Beaches, and Recreation was up by $188,800 due to increased programs and respective 
funding from the State.   

 Capital Grant revenues were less than the previous fiscal year by $1,701,300. These funds fluctuate 
each year as they are directly linked to the level of Capital Projects, their completion dates, and the 
guidelines of the grant reimbursements.  

 The City’s Property Taxes came in $40,000 lower overall in this sluggish economy.  Current Year 
Secured Taxes came in $56,400 higher, Current Year Un-Secured came in $42,000 lower, Property 
Transfer Taxes were down $16,400, ERAF funds were down $163,000, and Supplemental Property 
Taxes were up $125,500.   

 Sales and Use Taxes came in $128,100 higher than the previous fiscal year due to increased fuel 
prices.   

 Franchise Taxes reflected an increase of $192,700 over the previous fiscal year due in part to the 
prior years deferred revenue and increased utility and cable fees. 

 Other Taxes came in $107,600 higher than the previous fiscal year. Transient Occupancy Tax 
increased by $67,500 due to increased occupancy.  Utility Users Tax increased by $65,000 due to a 
combination of higher utility rates and higher usage.  Business License Tax decreased by $24,900 
due to elimination of processing fees. 
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 Use of Money & Property was down by $19,100 due to the decline of funds held in LAIF along 
with a 14% decrease in their interest rate. 

 Motor Vehicle License Fees came in $88,000 higher than the previous year due to increased car 
sales with the “cash for clunkers” program.  

 Other General Revenues were down by $16,600 due to H.O.P.T.R. up by $22,100, State Spec. 
Subv. SB-813 revenue down by $1,900, Police Auction Sales down by $2,100, Police Officer 
Training Reimbursement up by $2,300, Miscellaneous Income down by $54,700, Donations up by 
$12,000, and Recycling up by $5,900. 

 General Government expenses, which includes Finance, Central Services and Non-Departmental, 
was lower in total than the previous year by $413,000 primarily due to decreased debt service 
transfers and decreased operational expenses. 

 Public Safety expenses came in $689,400 lower than the previous fiscal year, due to reductions in 
personnel, operating and capital outlay expenditures. 

 Community Development came in $146,700 higher due to higher personnel costs with retirements. 
 Public Works expenses came in $79,800 higher than the previous fiscal year primarily due to 

increased Capital Projects including street pavement rehabilitation. 
 Parks, Beaches & Recreation program expenses came in $237,336 higher than the previous year 

due to increased spending in personnel hours, operating expenditures, and capital outlay related to 
the re-opening of the community pool and new grant funded programs. 

 The Sewer Operations expenses came in higher than the previous year by $1,285,830.  While 
operating costs were held pretty constant; reflecting a 1% increase of $78,600, a one-time 
settlement expense of $1,115,200 was incurred.  The remaining $92,000 increase was from 
increased interest and fiscal charges on the debt. 

 
 

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES REVENUE SOURCES 
Charges for Services

14%

Property Taxes

38%

Sales Tax

5%

Franchise & Other Taxes

15%

Use of Money & Property

1%

Motor Vehicle License Fees

11%

Other General Revenues

1%

Operating & Capital Grants

15%

The chart of revenues by source above, illustrates that property taxes at 38% of total governmental 

activity revenue is the single largest source of operating revenue for the City.  It is also one of the most 

stable and consistent growth revenues.  The major components of the governmental activity revenue 

sources are:  Property taxes, vehicle in-lieu, sales and use tax, franchise fees, utility user fees, charges for 

services, grants and intergovernmental revenues. 
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GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES EXPENSES 

Debt Service

7%

General Government

14%

Planning & Development

5%

Public Safety

45%

Public Works

16%

Parks, Beaches & Recreation

13%
`

The chart of expenses graphically portrayed above shows the relative proportion of expenses by function, 

as listed in the Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets on page 8 of the MD&A. 

 

Business-Type Activities 

 

The increase in business-type activities’ net assets is $776,011 and is made up of current fiscal year 

activity in the Sewer Enterprise Fund.  The principal source of revenue for this fund is charges for usage, 

which is assessed on the basis of equivalent residential units (ERU).  Revenues from the City’s sewer 

operations (see Table 3) increased by 2.9 percent ($326,553) from $11,367,645 in June 2010 to 

$11,694,198 in June 2011.  There was a 5.40 percent increase in the sewer charge rate approved by 

Council in June 2010.  There is an inverse relationship between the level of consumption of water and 

sewer rates.  Sewer expenses, including both operating and non-operating expenses, increased $170,611 

from $9,658,229 in 2010 to $9,828,840 in 2011.  This increase in expenses is due to Operating Expenses 

increase of $78,645 and Non-Operating Expenses increase of $91,966.  Bond interest expense and major 

maintenance expenses are also recorded in this fund. 

 

Enterprise Sewer Fund 

 

Table 3 

 

 2010 2011 Difference 

Operating Revenues    $11,367,645 $11,694,198 $   326,553 

Operating Expenses    $  9,658,229 $ 9,828,840 $   170,611 

 Income(Loss)    $  1,709,416 $ 1,865,358           $    155,942 

 

The internal service funds consist of motor pool and self-insurance general government costs. 
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Internal Service Funds 

 

Table 4 

 

 2010 2011 Difference 

Operating Revenues $2,401,421 $2,588,062     $186,641 

Operating Expenses $2,324,821 $2,378,637     $ 53,816 

 Income(Loss)     $    76,600          $  209,425     $132,825 

 

 

 Revenues for Business-Type Activities

Charges for Services

99%

Other Operating 

Income

1%

 Expenses for Business-Type Activities

Personnel Services

33%

Administration

10%

Depreciation

26%

Maintenance & Utilities

17%

Supplies & Materials

8%

Insurance/Claims

4%

Outside Contractors

2%
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MAJOR FUNDS 
 
As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to provide proper financial management of the City’s 
resources and to demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. 
 
The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and 
balances of resources that are available for spending.  Such information is useful in assessing the City’s 
financing requirements.  In particular, unreserved fund balances may serve as a useful measure of a 
government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
At the end of the fiscal year 2010-2011, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $5,791,225. 
 
General Fund 
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City.  At the end of the current fiscal year, total fund 
balance of the general fund was $4,077,835, representing a net decrease in general fund balance of 
$3,001,143.  As a measure of the general fund’s liquidity, it is useful to compare unassigned fund balance 
to total fund expenditure, which shows that unassigned fund balance is 3.3 percent of general fund 
expenditures.  Total “General Fund” revenue, as shown on page 24, this year was $25,316,218 compared 
to $24,985,836 in the prior fiscal year, a $330,382 increase/difference.  Some contributors to the 
increase/difference are described below: 
 
 Property Taxes decreased $41,000 or .4%.  Secured Property Taxes increased by $67,000 from home 

sales/reappraisals, Unsecured Property Tax decreased $54,000, Property Transfer Tax decreased by 
$16,400, Supplemental Property Tax in-Lieu of Sales Tax increased $125,500, and the City’s ERAF 
Refund dropped by $163,000.   

 Sales and Use Taxes, including the ½ cent Public Safety Sales Tax, increased by $128 thousand or 
15% due to increased fuel costs. 

 Motor Vehicle License Fees, increased $88 thousand or 2.8% due to increased car sales with the 
“cash for clunkers” program. 

 Transient Occupancy Taxes increased $67 thousand or 9.5% due to increased tourism. 
 Utility Users Tax increased $65 thousand or 4.4% due to a combination of higher utility rates and 

higher usage. 
 Franchise Tax decreased $133 thousand or 7.8% due in part to the prior years deferred revenue and 

increased utility and cable fees. 
 Business License Tax decreased $25 thousand or 5.9% due to elimination of processing fees. 
 Licenses and Permits decreased $12 thousand and Fines and forfeitures decreased $19 thousand due 

to decreased activity. 
 Intergovernmental Revenues increased $231 thousand or 16.9% due to increases over the prior year in 

State funding for Childcare programs and Public Safety programs.       
 Other Revenues decreased $109 thousand or 6.9% due to decreased Miscellaneous Income, Fines and 

Penalties and Narcotics Forfeitures. 
 Charges for Current Services and Recreation Fees increased $318 thousand or 15.8% due to the re-

opening of the community pool and increased fees for Recreation and Planning. 
 Operating Transfers In decreased $217 thousand due to non-payment of RDA debt to the General 

Fund. 
 
General Fund expenditures of $25,164,085 decreased by $519,793 over the previous fiscal year.  
Differences shown below: 
 
 City Council expenditures decreased by $18.3 thousand due to cut backs in Council member’s salary 

and benefits for half the year. 
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 City Manager’s expenditures increased by $19.7 thousand due to increased election costs and 
employee benefit costs. 

 City Attorney expenditures increased by $78 thousand due to increased employee benefits and 
contract legal services. 

 Human Resources expenditures decreased by $38 thousand due to increased employee benefits, 
increased contract and contract legal services with employee contract renewals, increased recruitment 
expense from the Planning Director recruitment related to a retirement a $78.8 thousand reallocation 
of retiree health benefits to Non-Departmental. 

 Finance Division expenditures increased by $5.8 thousand due to increased employee benefits. 
 Non-Departmental expenditures increased by $78.8 thousand due to a reallocation of retiree health 

benefits from Human Resources. 
 Police Department expenditures decreased by $355.2 thousand due to reductions in personnel and 

operational costs.  
 Fire Department expenditures decreased by $352.5 thousand due in part to staff reduction of a fire-

fighter, decreased personnel costs with less mutual aid responses, and continued savings with 
participation in shared administrative services. 

 Planning & Community Development expenditures increased by $65.7 thousand due to increased 
personnel costs with a retirement payout and increased benefit costs.  

 Public Works Department expenditures increased by $47.3 thousand due to increased employee 
benefits. 

 Parks, Beaches & Recreation expenditures increased by $8.6 thousand due to increased employee 
benefits. 

 Capital Outlay decreased by $59 thousand due to decreased fixed assets acquisitions. 
 
Total General Fund Revenues exceeded General Fund Expenditures by $152,133. 
 
General Capital Improvement Fund 
This fund accounts for construction financed by revenues derived from fees and apportionments from the 
General Fund. At the end of the current fiscal year, total fund balance of the General Capital 
Improvement Fund was $1,124,320. The balance is restricted for capital projects.  Total fund balance 
decreased $103,637 from the prior fiscal year.  Total revenue for this fund was $239,569, made up of 
Capital Improvement Fees of $28,900, Investment Earnings of $16,846 and Intergovernmental Revenues 
of $193,823.  Total project construction cost expenditures were $337,668. 
 
Gas Tax Fund 
This fund was established to receive and expand the City’s allocation of the State Gasoline Taxes.  Funds 
are allocated on a population basis (per Federal Census) in accordance with Sections 2103, 2105, 2106, 
2107 and 2107.5 of the California Street and Highway Code.  Expenditures of money apportioned under 
Section 2107 may be made for any street purpose including construction and right of way purchases.  At 
the end of the current fiscal year, total fund balance was $2,732,581.  Total revenue for this fund was 
$1,858,108 made up primarily of Intergovernmental Revenue at $1,839,296, $18,576 of Miscellaneous 
Revenue and $236 from Investment Earnings.  Funds were used for street repair and maintenance, 
pavement overlays and repaving of the Manor overpass. 
 
Redevelopment Agency – Rockaway Beach 
This fund accounts for the revenues and expenditures related to redevelopment projects in the RDA 
project area of Rockaway Beach.  The Redevelopment Area consists of 600 square acres.  The Quarry is 
approximately 85 square acres of the RDA.  At the end of the current fiscal year, total fund balance of the 
Redevelopment Agency Fund was $-5,760,258, representing a negative change of $117,167 from the 
prior fiscal year.  Total revenues of $253,423 were made up of $237,547 of Secured Property Taxes, 
$15,032 of Unsecured Property Taxes, $1,173 of Intergovernmental Revenue and $-329 of Investment 
Earnings. Total expenditures of $370,590 included $327,200 of debt service, $23,635 of SERAF 
payment, $5,347 of County pass-thru and $14,408 of operating expenditures.  
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Debt Service Fund 
All governmental activities debt service costs are budgeted in the fund responsible for the debt and 
transferred to the Debt Service Fund for payment.  Total governmental activities debt is $37,560,125 with 
$1,540,000 of Redevelopment Agency debt, $18,850,000 of general fund debt, and $17,170,125 of 
general fund Pension Obligation Bonds.  At the end of the current fiscal year, total fund balance of the 
Debt Service Fund was $932,441, all restricted for debt service.  The total fund balance represents a net 
decrease of $3,373 from the prior fiscal year.   
 
Enterprise Fund 
Total net assets for the Sewer Fund at the end of the fiscal year were $19,724,997.  The total change in net 
assets for the Sewer Fund was $776,011.  Unrestricted net assets of the Enterprise Sewer Fund at the end 
of the year amounted to $5,545,190. Net Assets invested in capital assets, net of related debt, was 
$14,179,807.  Additional factors relating to the finances of this fund have already been addressed in the 
discussion of the City’s business-type activities.   

General Fund Budget Modifications 

Differences between the original fiscal year 2010-2011 budget and the final amended fiscal year 2010-
2011 budget of the General Fund are as follows: 

Revenues --  
 Property Taxes – increase of $440,892 for additional ERAF funds paid. 
 Franchise Taxes -- decrease of $332,000 due to a change in the Garbage Franchise Agreement. 
 Other – increase of $60,000 due to additional funding in Supplemental Property Tax in-Lieu of 

Sales Tax. 
 Licenses and Permits – increase of $8,000 due to increased activity. 
 Intergovernmental – decrease of $9,000 due to a $30,000 decrease in SB813 Supplemental Taxes 

and a $21,000 increase of H.O.P.T.R. 
 Charges for Current Services – increase of $10,000 from reinstated DUI billing. 
 Other – decrease of $10,000 due to a $15,000 increase of Municipal Facility Fees and a decrease 

of $25,000 in Fines and Penalties. 
Expenditures -- 
 City Attorney – increase of $91,000 for increased expenses related to outside legal services.  
 Human Resources – increase of $30,000 for increased outside legal services. 
 Finance – increase of $20,000 for part-time services. 
 Non-Departmental – increase of $7,000 from increased rentals.    
 Public Safety – increase of $97,268; a $2,268 increase in Police and a $95,000 increase in Fire for 

additional overtime services. 
 Public Works – decrease of $1,700. 
 Capital Outlay – decrease of $568. 

Major deviations between the final expenditure budget of the General Fund and its actual operating 
results were as follows: 
 General Government, including Non-Departmental Services - Budgeted $3,998,905, expended 

$3,840,380; under budget by $158,525. City Council came in $22.9 thousand under budget due to 
voluntary salary and benefit cuts; City Manager’s Department came in $26.8 thousand under 
budget due to $12.6 thousand of voluntary salary and benefit cuts and a decrease of $14.2 
thousand in operational expenditures; Finance Department came in $110.8 thousand under budget 
due to a decrease of $42.5 thousand of professional services and a decrease of $68.3 thousand of 
operational expenditures; Non-Departmental Services came in $26.8 thousand over budget due to 
increased Contractual Services. 

 Public Safety - Budget $14,207,328, expended $14,035,745; under budget by $171,583 due to 
decreased operating costs. 

 Community Development - Budgeted $1,191,191, expended $1,309,463, over budget by 
$118,272, due to higher outside contractual services and retirement payout. 
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 Public Works – Budget $2,361,456, expended $2,246,600; under budget by $114,856 due to 
lower operational costs. 

 
Total general fund final revenue budget was $25,638,171 but came in at $25,316,218, $321,953 under 
budget.  Total general fund final expenditure budget was $25,379,967 with actual expenditures of 
$25,164,085, $215,882 under budget.  Under budget expenditure deviation was $215,882, for a total 
deficit of expenditures over revenue of $106,071, before transfers out as shown on page 67 of this report.   
 
Transfers 
Transfers are generally made to match restricted revenue with related costs that have been recorded in the 
General Fund.  An example of this type of transfer could be transfers-out of the General Fund to the 
Internal Service Fund for insurance costs or to the Debt Fund for general obligation debt payments. 

CAPITAL ASSETS 

 
Capital Assets (in thousands) 

 Governmental 
Activities 

Business-Type 
Activities 

Total 

 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 
       
Land and Improvements $ 39,047 $39,047  $ 4,014 $4,014  $ 43,061 $43,061  
Buildings and 
Improvements 

 
15,993 

 
15,949 

 
75,503 

 
75,630 

 
91,496 

 
91,579 

Collection System - - 4,966 6,383 4,966 6,383 
Machinery and Equipment 1,182 1,260 992 1,028       2,174 2,288 
Vehicles 5,115 4,893 - - 5,115 4,893 
Infrastructure 21,191 21,459 - - 21,191 21,459 
Construction in Progress 668 969 - - 668 969 
Depreciation (14,026) (15,193) (38,891) (41,121) (52,917) (56,314) 
   Total $ 69,170 $68,384  $ 46,584 $45,934  $115,754 $114,318  
For more detail information on capital asset activity, please refer to note 5-Capital Assets. 
Major additions to capital assets during the year ended June 30, 2011 included: 

ARRA-Various Pavement Rehabilitation, San Pedro Terrace Mutipurpose Trail, San Pedro Creek 
Bridge, and Esplanade RV Park Trail and Beach Access. 

Long-Term Debt 

 
At the end of the current fiscal year, Governmental Activities had bonded debt outstanding in the amount 
of $37,560,125, all backed by the full faith and credit of the government. For more detailed information 
on long-term debt activity, refer to the Notes to the Financial Statements, Note 6. 
  
Outstanding Debt 
 
2008 Certificate of Participation              $18,850,000 
2004 RDA Tax Allocation Bond      1,540,000 
2010 Pension Obligation Bond    17,170,125 
 
Total Bonded Debt Outstanding                                $37,560,125 
 
The City maintains an “AA” rating from Standard & Poor’s on the General Obligation debt.  
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The California government code provides for a legal debt limit of 15% of gross assessed valuation based 
on 25% of market value, or a legal debt limit of 3.75% based on market value. Based on the market 
valuation of $4,353,695,183, the current debt limitation for the City is $163,263,569 (3.75% of 
$4,353,695,183), which is significantly more than the City’s outstanding general obligation debt of 
$37,560,125 at the end of 2011. 
 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget 
 
The City has developed a five-year financial plan that protects the core services and meets the 
community’s needs.  It reflects an expenditure plan that maintains the City’s current level of services to 
residents and businesses and addresses the $2.8 million dollar annual deficit. The five-year financial plan 
also provides for a continuation of the ongoing capital improvement program that will provide and 
maintain facilities and services for citizen use and enjoyment.  One of the major challenges facing the 
City of Pacifica is to find ways to contain costs while at the same time maintain the current level of 
services to residents and businesses.   
 
 
Contacting the City’s Financial Management 
 
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors 
with a general overview of the City’s finances and to show the City’s accountability for the money it 
receives.  If you have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact the 
Administrative Services Department @ City of Pacifica, 170 Santa Maria Avenue, Pacifica, CA 94044, 
650/738-7396
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CITY OF PACIFICA
Statement of Net Assets

June 30, 2011

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Totals

ASSETS
Cash and investments 6,977,306$      7,175,012$      14,152,318$    
Cash and investments with fiscal agents 4,510,672        1,102,253        5,612,925        
Taxes receivable 1,043,951        1,043,951        
Accounts receivable 260,197           23,770             283,967           
Interest receivable 206,702           206,702           
Grants receivable 1,716,155        1,716,155        
Notes receivable,net 600,000           600,000           
Prepaid items 389,334           2,194,068        2,583,402        
Inventories 46,022             373,822           419,844           
Long-term prepaid pension asset 17,089,355      17,089,355      
Deferred charges, net of accumulated amortization 1,448,487        713,538           2,162,025        
Deferred loss on refunding, net of accumulated amortization 1,134,349                            1,134,349        
Capital assets, not being depreciated 40,015,623      4,014,412        44,030,035      
Capital assets, being depreciated, net of accumulated depreciation 28,368,591      41,920,275      70,288,866      

Total Assets 103,806,744    57,517,150      161,323,894    

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 674,100           624,931           1,299,031        
Accrued liabilities 657,618           91,071             748,689           
Interest payable 716,613           509,845           1,226,458        
Unearned revenue 4,700                                   4,700               
Refundable deposits 538,868                               538,868           
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year 4,283,958        2,458,072        6,742,030        
Due in more than one year 38,527,849      34,108,234      72,636,083      

Total Liabilities 45,403,706      37,792,153      83,195,859      

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 53,739,513      14,179,807      67,919,320      
Restricted for:

Restricted for construction of capital assets 1,760,013        1,760,013        
Restricted for streets, highways, and other related purposes 4,072,580        4,072,580        
Restricted for low/mod housing 915,126           915,126           
Restricted for public safety 810,255                               810,255           

Unrestricted (2,894,449)       5,545,190        2,650,741        

Total Net Assets 58,403,038$   19,724,997$   78,128,035$   

                    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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Program Revenues
Operating Capital

Charges for Contributions Contributions
Expenses Services and Grants and Grants

Governmental Activities:
General government 4,212,498$       48,038$            61,416$           -$                  
Public safety 14,460,040       851,020            355,795           
Community development 1,549,299         631,767            39,392              
Public works 4,881,082         683,914            211,274           2,308,909         
Parks, beaches, and recreation 3,919,199         1,843,700         1,351,794        
Interest on long-term debt 2,174,281         

Total Governmental Activities 31,196,399       4,058,439         1,980,279        2,348,301         

Business-type Activities:
Sewer 10,944,059       11,694,198                           

Total  Business-type Activities 10,944,059       11,694,198                                                

Total Government 42,140,458$     15,752,637$     1,980,279$      2,348,301$       

General Revenues:
Taxes:

Property taxes
Sales and use taxes
Franchise taxes
Other taxes

Motor vehicle in lieu, unrestricted
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous

Total General Revenues

Change in Net Assets

Net Assets, July 1, 2010

Net Assets, June 30, 2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011
Statement of Activities

CITY OF PACIFICA
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Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Totals

(4,103,044)$     -$                (4,103,044)$     
(13,253,225)                         (13,253,225)     

(878,140)                              (878,140)          
(1,676,985)                           (1,676,985)       

(723,705)          (723,705)          
(2,174,281)                           (2,174,281)       

(22,809,380)                         (22,809,380)     

                    
750,139           750,139           

                    750,139           750,139           

(22,809,380)     750,139           (22,059,241)     

10,564,253      10,564,253      
1,434,710        1,434,710        
1,565,634        1,565,634        
2,712,005        2,712,005        
3,195,730        3,195,730        

192,620           25,872             218,492           
324,709                                   324,709           

19,989,661      25,872             20,015,533      

(2,819,719)       776,011           (2,043,708)       

61,222,757      18,948,986      80,171,743      

58,403,038$    19,724,997$    78,128,035$    

Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Assets
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Special Revenue
Capital Projects Funds Fund

Redevelopment
General Agency
Capital Rockaway

General Improvement Beach Gas Tax
Assets

Cash and investments 193,782$       882,629$           -$                  -$                   
Cash and investments with fiscal agents 2,381,542          212,445            1,400,000          
Receivables:

Taxes 793,838         6,250                 243,863             
Accounts 259,063         
Interest 17,682           2,708                 
Grants 337,105         180,248             
Notes, net

Due from other funds 1,420,195      2,218,700          
Prepaid items .
Inventories 2,234             
Advances receivable 6,209,971      

Total Assets 9,233,870$   3,453,377$       212,445$          3,862,563$       

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Accounts payable 304,099$       38,770$             370$                 19,597$             
Accrued liabilities 614,772         2,026                 25,740               
Refundable deposits 538,868         
Due to other funds 2,218,700          36,434              1,084,645          
Deferred revenue 3,698,296      69,561               
Advances payable 5,935,899         

Total Liabilities 5,156,035      2,329,057          5,972,703         1,129,982          

Fund Balances:
Nonspendable 2,518,609                                                                       
Restricted 1,124,320          2,732,581          
Committed 567,465         
Assigned 150,369         
Unassigned 841,392         (5,760,258)        

Total Fund Balances (Deficits) 4,077,835      1,124,320          (5,760,258)        2,732,581          

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 9,233,870$   3,453,377$       212,445$          3,862,563$       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.

CITY OF PACIFICA
Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds
June 30, 2011
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Debt Service
Fund

Other
Debt Governmental

Service Funds Totals

415,756$          2,606,554$         4,098,721$    
516,685            4,510,672      

                        1,043,951      
                        259,063         

186,312              206,702         
1,198,802           1,716,155      

600,000              600,000         
                        3,638,895      

389,334              389,334         
2,234             

6,209,971      

932,441$          4,981,002$         22,675,698$ 

-$                  178,213$            541,049$       
3,491                   646,029         

538,868         
1,383,761           4,723,540      

457,159              4,225,016      
274,072              6,209,971      

                     2,296,696           16,884,473    

                     2,518,609      
932,441            3,514,761           8,304,103      

567,465         
150,369         

(830,455)             (5,749,321)    

932,441            2,684,306           5,791,225      

932,441$          4,981,002$         22,675,698$ 
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CITY OF PACIFICA
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds

Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Assets
June 30, 2011

Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 5,791,225$    

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net
Assets are different from those reported in the governmental funds
because of the following:

Capital assets used in Governmental Activities are not current  
resources and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds.

Capital assets 77,938,427$  
Less:  accumulated depreciation (10,969,007)  

66,969,420    

Interest accrued on notes and advances are not available to pay for 
current expenditures and, therefore are offset by deferred revenue in the 
governmental funds. 3,879,908      

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used in governmental funds, revenues
are not recognized for transactions that do not represent available financial resources.
In the statement of net assets and statement of activities, however, revenues and 
assets are reported regardless of when financial resources are available.

Deferred revenue, grant receivable 340,408         

The net pension asset pertaining to governmental fund types is not a current financial 
resource and therefore is not recorded in the governmental fund statements. 16,759,609    

Deferred charges represent costs associated with the issuance of 
long-term debt which are deferred and amortized over the period which
the debt is outstanding.  The costs are reported as expenditures in the
period of issuance in the governmental funds.

Deferred charges - 2004 Tax Allocation Bond - net of accumulated 
amortization 71,851           
Deferred charges - 2008 Certificates of Participation - net of 
accumulated amortization 903,805         
Deferred charges - 2010 Pension Obligation Bonds - net of
accumulated amortization 463,707         

1,439,363      

Deferred loss on refunding, net of accumulated amortization has not 
been reported in the governmental funds.  This was capitalized and 
amortized over the life of the new debt or old debt whichever is shorter
in the Statement of Net Assets. 1,134,349      

Interest payable on long-term debt does not require current financial
resources.  Therefore, interest payable is not reported as a liability in
the governmental funds. (715,153)        

The liabilities below are not due and payable in the current period and,
therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds.

Compensated absences (1,460,779)     
2001 CHFA Loan (875,378)        
2004 Tax Allocation Bond (1,540,000)     
2008 Certificates of Participation (18,850,000)  
2010 Pension Obligation Bonds (16,838,813)  
Other Postemployment Benefits (1,846,137)     

(41,411,107)  

Internal service funds are used by management to charge costs of 
certain activities, such as insurance and central garage, to individual funds.
The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in
Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net Assets. 4,215,016      

Net Assets of Governmental Activities 58,403,038$ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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Special Revenue
Capital Projects Funds Fund

Redevelopment
General Agency
Capital Rockaway

General Improvement Beach Gas Tax
Revenues

Taxes 15,960,878$ -$              252,579$      -$                    
Licenses and permits 311,879        28,900                           
Fines and forfeitures 226,650                                          
Use of money and property 121,087        16,846          (329)              236                     
Intergovernmental 4,883,851     193,823        1,173            1,839,296           
Charges for current services 1,676,210                                       
Recreation programs 653,627                                          
Other 1,482,036                                       18,576                

Total Revenues 25,316,218   239,569        253,423        1,858,108           

Expenditures
Current:

General government 3,840,380                      43,390          
Public safety 14,035,745                                     
Community development 1,309,463     73,939                           
Public works 2,246,600                                       1,534,737           
Parks, beaches, and recreation 3,581,371                                       

Capital outlay 150,526        263,729                         28,703                
Debt service:

Principal 40,000          
Interest and fiscal charges 287,200        

Total Expenditures 25,164,085   337,668        370,590        1,563,440           

Excess (Deficit) of Revenues over
 Expenditures 152,133        (98,099)         (117,167)       294,668              

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in                                                                           
Transfers out (3,153,276)    (5,538)                            (597,039)             

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (3,153,276)    (5,538)                            (597,039)             

Net Changes in Fund Balances (3,001,143)    (103,637)       (117,167)       (302,371)             

Fund Balances (Deficits), July 1, 2010 7,078,978     1,227,957     (5,643,091)    3,034,952           

Fund Balances (Deficits), June 30, 2011 4,077,835$  1,124,320$  (5,760,258)$ 2,732,581$        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.

CITY OF PACIFICA
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011
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Debt Service
Fund

                 Other
Debt Governmental

Service Funds Totals

-$              241,047$      16,454,504$ 
                                  340,779        
                                  226,650        

2,596            13,993          154,429        
                 1,255,211     8,173,354     
                                  1,676,210     
                                  653,627        
                 39,219          1,539,831     

2,596            1,549,470     29,219,384   

                                  3,883,770     
                 60,839          14,096,584   
                 52,086          1,435,488     
                 259,355        4,040,692     
                                  3,581,371     
                 310,661        753,619        

1,441,839                      1,481,839     
1,950,888     17,930          2,256,018     

3,392,727     700,871        31,529,381   

(3,390,131)    848,599        (2,309,997)    

3,386,758                      3,386,758     
                 (10,905)         (3,766,758)    

3,386,758     (10,905)         (380,000)       

(3,373)           837,694        (2,689,997)    

935,814        1,846,612     8,481,222     

932,441$      2,684,306$   5,791,225$   
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CITY OF PACIFICA
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011

The schedule below reconciles the Net Changes in Fund Balances reported on the Governmental Funds
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances, which measure only changes in 
current assets and current liabilities on the modified accrual basis, with the Change in Net Assets of 
Governmental Activities reported in the Statement of Activities, which is prepared on the full accrual basis.

Net change in fund balances (2,689,997)$   

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Activities are
different because of the following:

The long-term prepaid pension costs were reported as expenditures in the governmental 
funds when they were paid, but in the Statement of Net Assets, they are shown as a prepaid and amortized
throughout the period during which the related debt is outstanding.  This is the current period's amortization. (577,918)        

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the
Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is capitalized and allocated 
over their estimated lives and reported as depreciation expense.

Capital outlay expenditures are therefore added back to fund balances 667,419$             
Depreciation expense not reported in governmental funds (1,331,678)           

(664,259)        

Interest in the statement of activities that does not provide current financial resources 
are not reported as revenues in the governmental funds. 18,000           

Certain receivables are offset by deferred revenue in the governmental funds because they
are not available to pay for current period expenditures.  This amount represents the amount
by which prior year deferred revenue exceeded current year. (663,964)        

Governmental funds only report the disposal of assets to the extent proceeds are
received from sale.  In the Statement of Activities, a gain or loss is reported for each
disposal.  This is the loss on disposal of the capital assets. (54,538)          

Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but
issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Assets.  Costs
associated with the issuance of long-term debt are reported as expenditures in
the governmental funds, but in the Statement of Net Assets, the costs are 
deferred and amortized throughout the period during which the related debt is 
outstanding.  Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental 
funds, but in the Statement of Net Assets the repayment reduces long-term liabilities.

Issuance cost and discount amortized during the period (63,442)                
Repayment of debt principal 1,481,839            

1,418,397      

The amounts below included in the Statement of Activities do not provide
(require) the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as
revenues or expenditures in governmental funds:

Deferred loss on refunding amortized during the period (44,484)                
Interest payable (net change) (8,150)                  
Compensated absences (net change) 60,780                 

8,146             

Other postemployment benefits payable is a long-term debt that increases or decreases
each fiscal year, depending on the annual required contribution amount and actual amount
funded/paid by the City. This is the amount of the change in the payable in the current period. (212,205)        

The internal service funds are used by management to charge costs of certain
activities such as, insurance and central garage, to individual funds.  The net revenues 
(expenses) of the internal service funds are reported with governmental activities. 598,619         

Change in net assets of governmental activitie (2,819,719)$   

                  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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Business-type Governmental
Activities Activities

Enterprise Internal
Fund Service

Sewer Utility Funds
Assets
Current Assets:

Cash and investments 7,175,012$    2,878,585$    
Cash and investments with fiscal agents 1,102,253                       
Accounts receivable 23,770           1,134            
Due from other funds 1,084,645      
Prepaid items 2,194,068      329,746         
Inventories 373,822         43,788           

Total Current Assets 10,868,925    4,337,898      

Noncurrent Assets:
Deferred charges, net of accumulated amortization 713,538         9,124            
Capital assets, not being depreciated 4,014,412      258,774         
Capital assets, being depreciated, net of accumulated depreciation 41,920,275    1,156,020      

Total Noncurrent Assets 46,648,225    1,423,918      

Total Assets 57,517,150    5,761,816      

Liabilities
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable 624,931         133,051         
Accrued liabilities 91,071           11,589           
Interest payable 509,845         1,460            
Claims payable 914,933         
Compensated absences 143,099                          
Settlement payable 328,250         
Loans payable 1,697,112      
Bonds payable 289,611         18,724           

Total Current Liabilities 3,683,919      1,079,757      

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Claims payable 121,823         
Compensated absences 94,117           32,632           
Settlement payable 286,000         
Loans payable 18,747,853                     
Bonds payable 14,980,264    312,588         

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 34,108,234    467,043         

Total Liabilities 37,792,153    1,546,800      

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 14,179,807    1,414,794      
Unrestricted 5,545,190      2,800,222      

Total Net Assets 19,724,997$  4,215,016$    

                                  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.

CITY OF PACIFICA
Statement of Net Assets

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2011
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CITY OF PACIFICA
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Assets

Proprietary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011

Business-type Governmental
Activities Activities
Enterprise Internal

Fund Service
Sewer Utility Funds

Operating Revenues:
Charges for services 11,598,644$  1,527,386$       
Other operating income 95,554           1,060,676         

Total Operating Revenues 11,694,198    2,588,062         

Operating Expenses:
Personnel services 2,942,000      414,409             
Administration 840,104         2,441                 
Supplies and materials 686,567         409,434             
Insurance 322,862         442,300             
Outside contractors 132,387         17,617               
Maintenance 202,479         65,893               
Utilities 1,262,849                            
Insurance claims 710,804             
Depreciation 2,230,231      315,739             

Total Operating Expenses 8,619,479      2,378,637         

Operating Income (Loss) 3,074,719      209,425             

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses):
Investment earnings 25,872           20,191               
Recoveries and settlements (11,851)             
Gain on sale of capital assets 19,972               
Interest and fiscal charges (1,164,199)     (19,118)             
Amortization (45,162)          

Total Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) (1,183,489)     9,194                 

Income (Loss) Before Transfers and Special Item 1,891,230      218,619             

Transfers:
Transfers in 380,000             

Special Item:
Settlement expense (1,115,219)     

Changes in Net Assets 776,011         598,619             

Net Assets, July 1, 2010 18,948,986    3,616,397         

Net Assets, June 30, 2011 19,724,997$ 4,215,016$      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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CITY OF PACIFICA
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011

Business-type Governmental
Activities Activities
Enterprise Internal

Fund Service
Sewer Utility Funds

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Receipts from customers 11,671,447$  2,589,637$    
Payments to suppliers and users (3,390,650)     (876,043)        
Payments for claims (830,513)        
Payments to employees (2,922,226)     (413,216)        

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 5,358,571      469,865         

Cash Flows from Noncapital and Related Financing Activities:
Settlement expense (500,969)        
Interfund loans                   (1,084,645)     
Transfers in                   380,000         

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Noncapital and Related Financing Activities (500,969)        (704,645)        

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities:
Purchase of capital assets (1,580,644)     (248,446)        
Proceeds from sale of capital assets                   19,972           
Principal payments on bonds and notes (1,955,791)     (19,409)          
Interest paid (1,194,122)     (19,320)          

Net Cash (Used) by Capital and Related Financing Activities (4,730,557)     (267,203)        

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Interest received 25,872           20,191           

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities 25,872           20,191           

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 152,917         (481,792)        

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Fiscal Year 8,124,348      3,360,377      

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Fiscal Year 8,277,265$   2,878,585$   

Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents to Statement of Net Assets:
Cash and investments 7,175,012$    2,878,585$    
Cash and investments with fiscal agents 1,102,253                        

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 8,277,265$   2,878,585$   

                  (Continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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CITY OF PACIFICA
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011

(Continued)
Business-type Governmental

Activities Activities
Enterprise Internal

Fund Service
Sewer Utility Funds

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash Provided (Used)
   by Operating Activities:

Operating income (loss) 3,074,719$    209,425$       
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash
  Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 2,230,231      315,739         
(Increase) Decrease in Operating Assets:

Accounts receivable (22,751)          1,575             
Prepaid items 75,657                             
Inventories (14,577)          (13,583)          

Increase (Decrease) in Operating Liabilities:
Accounts payable (4,482)            75,225           
Accrued liabilities 22,961           818                
Claims payable (119,709)        
Compensated absences (3,187)            375                

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 5,358,571$   469,865$      

                                    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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CITY OF PACIFICA
Fiduciary Fund

Statement of Net Assets
June 30, 2011

Assets
Cash and investments $ 3,484,010    

Total assets 3,484,010    

Liabilities
Accounts payable 222              
Accrued liabilities 1,339           

Total liabilities 1,561           

Net Assets
Unrestricted 3,482,449    

Total net assets $ 3,482,449  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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CITY OF PACIFICA
Fiduciary Fund

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011

Additions:
Investment revenue $ 12,420         

Total additions 12,420         

Deductions:
Parks, beaches, and recreation 63,724         

Total deductions 63,724         

Change in net assets (51,304)        

Net Assets - July 1, 2010 3,533,753    

Net Assets - June 30, 2011 $ 3,482,449  

Fund

Davies
Trust

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 
 
The basic financial statements of the City of Pacifica (City) have been prepared in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“USGAAP”) as applied to 
governmental agencies.  The Governmental Accounting Standards Boards (“GASB”) is the accepted 
standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  The 
more significant accounting principles are described below. 
 
A. Reporting Entity 
 
The City of Pacifica was incorporated November 22, 1957 under the general laws of the State of 
California and enjoys all the rights and privileges applicable to a General Law City.  The City operates 
under a Council-Manager form of government.  There are five Council Members who serve overlapping 
terms of four years, and the Council, in turn, elects one of the Council Members to serve as Mayor for one 
year.  This legislative body selects a City Manager to administer the affairs of the City.  The City provides 
the following services:  public safety (police, fire, and civil defense), highways and streets, sanitation, 
health and social services, culture-recreation, public improvements, planning and zoning, and general 
administrative services. 
 
As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the 
accompanying financial statements include the financial activities of the City and its blended component 
unit, the Redevelopment Agency of the City of Pacifica (Redevelopment Agency).  The City Council 
serves in separate session as the governing body of the Redevelopment Agency and is financially 
accountable, although the Agency is a legal entity apart from the City.  The financial activities of the 
Redevelopment Agency are, in substance, a part of the City’s operations and are included in the 
accompanying financial statements utilizing the "blending method". 
 
The Redevelopment Agency was established September 24, 1979 pursuant to Ordinance Number 267-
C.S.  Its purpose is to prepare and carry out plans for the improvement, rehabilitation, and development 
of blighted areas within the territorial limits of the City of Pacifica.  The Redevelopment Agency is reported 
as Capital Projects and Special Revenue Funds.  Individual component unit financial statements can be 
obtained for the City’s Redevelopment Agency from the City’s Finance Department located in City Hall.   
 
The City participates in the ABAG Plan Corporation, a public entity risk pool, whose financial activities are 
not included in the basic financial statements as it is administered by a board, separate from and 
independent, of the City (See Note 9). 
 

Discretely Presented Component Units.  There are no entities which meet the Governmental 

Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 14 as amended by GASB Statement No. 39, criteria for 

discrete disclosure within these financial statements. 
 
B. Basis of Presentation 
 
The City’s basic financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the 
acknowledged standard-setting body for establishing accounting and financial reporting standards 
followed by governmental entities in the United States of America. 
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued): 
 
C. Government–wide Financial Statements 
 
The City’s government-wide financial statements include a Statement of Net Assets, and a Statement of 
Activities.  These statements present summaries of governmental activities and business-type activities 
for the City, accompanied by a total column.  These financial statements include the financial activities of 
the overall City government, except for fiduciary activities.  Eliminations have been made to minimize the 
double counting of internal activities.  Governmental activities are financed generally through taxes, 
intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange transactions.  Business-type activities (Sewer Utility 
Enterprise Fund) are financed generally through user fees. 
 
The Statement of Activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for 
each function of the City’s governmental activities.  Direct expenses are those that are specifically 
associated with a program or function and therefore are clearly identifiable to a particular function.  
Program revenues include three categories: (1) charges for services, (2) operating grants and 
contributions and (3) capital grants and contributions.  Revenues that are not classified as program 
revenues, including all taxes, are presented as general revenues.  Interfund services provided and used 
are not eliminated in the process of consolidation on the Statement of Activities. 
 
Certain eliminations have been made as prescribed by Governmental Accounting Standards Board No. 
34, Basic Financial Statements-and Management’s Discussion and Analysis-for State and Local 
Governments (“GASB No. 34”) in regards to interfund activities, payables and receivables.   
 
D. Financial Statements 
 
Governmental fund financial statements include a Balance Sheet and a Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances for all major governmental funds and non-major funds 
aggregated.  An accompanying schedule is presented to reconcile and explain the differences in net 
assets as presented in these statements to the net assets presented in the government-wide financial 
statements.  
 
The governmental fund financial statements provide information about the City’s funds, including blended 
component units.  Separate statements for each fund category–governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary–
are presented.  The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major individual funds, each of which is 
displayed in a separate column.  All remaining governmental funds are aggregated and reported as 
nonmajor funds. 
 
Proprietary fund financial statements include a Statement of Net Assets, a Statement of Revenues, 
Expenses, and Change in Net Assets, and a Statement of Cash Flows for all proprietary funds. The 
internal service funds are also presented in these statements.  However, internal service balances and 
activities have been combined with the governmental activities in the government-wide financial 
statements.   
 
Proprietary funds are accounted for using the “economic resources” measurement focus and the accrual 
basis of accounting.  Accordingly, all assets and liabilities (whether current or noncurrent) are included on 
the Statement of Net Assets.  The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Change in Net Assets 
presents increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in total net assets.  Under the accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which they are earned while expenses are 
recognized in the period in which liabilities are incurred. 
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued): 
 
D. Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
Operating revenues in the proprietary funds are those revenues that are generated from the primary 
operation of the fund.  All other revenues are reported as nonoperating revenues.  Operating expenses 
are those expenses that are essential to the primary operations of the fund.  All other expenses are 
reported as nonoperating expenses. 
 
Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements include a statement of net assets and a statement of changes in 
fiduciary net assets. Fiduciary funds represent trust funds, which are custodial in nature (assets equal 
liabilities) and do not involve measurement of results of operations. The City has only one fiduciary fund, 
the Davies Trust fund.  
 
E. Major Funds 
 
GASB 34 defines major funds and requires that the City’s major governmental funds be identified and 
presented separately in the Fund financial statements.  All other governmental funds, called non-major 
funds, are combined and reported in a single column, regardless of their fund-type.  Major funds are 
defined as funds which have either assets, liabilities, revenues or expenditures/expenses equal to or 
greater than ten percent of their fund-type total and five percent of the grand total of all fund types, 
excluding fiduciary.  The general fund is always a major fund.  For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011 
the City selected the General Capital Improvement Capital Projects Fund to be presented as a major 
fund, even though it did not qualify as one.  The major funds of the City are: 
 

 General Fund – The General Fund is used to account for the resources to carry out basic 
governmental activities of the City such as general government, public safety, public works, 
community development, and parks, beaches, and recreation, which are not required to be 
accounted for in another fund. 

 

 General Capital Improvement Capital Projects Fund – This fund is used to account for 
revenues derived from fees and apportionments from General Fund to be used for the 
acquisition, construction, and improvement of major capital facilities of the City. 

 

 Redevelopment Agency Rockaway Beach Capital Project Fund – This fund is used to 
account for expenditures and financing of various redevelopment agency projects. 

 

 Gas Tax Special Revenue Fund – This fund was established to receive and expend the City’s 
allocation of the State Gasoline Taxes.  Each City is allocated funds on a population basis in 
accordance with Section 2103, 2105, 2106, 2107 and 2107.5 of the California Street and 
Highway Code.  Population is determined by the latest Federal Census or survey requested and 
certified by the Cities and conducted by the State Department of Finance.  Expenditures may be 
made for construction or purchasing of right-of-way on minor streets.  Expenditures of money 
apportioned under Section 2107 may be made for any street purpose.  Under Section 2107.5 a 
flat allocation of $6000 per year is granted the City for street engineering. 
 

 Debt Service Fund – This fund is used to account for the accumulated and the disbursement of 
account for expenditures and financing of various redevelopment agency projects. 

 

The City reports the following major proprietary fund: 
 

 The Sewer Utility Enterprise Fund – This fund accounts for the operation and maintenance of 
the City’s wastewater collection system including operating costs of the wastewater collection 
system and water recycling plant. 
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued): 
 
E. Major Funds (Continued) 
 
Additionally, the City reports the following fund types: 
 

 The Internal Service Funds account for the financing of goods or services provided by one 
department or agency to other departments or agencies of the government and to other 
government units on a cost reimbursement basis.  The City has two internal service funds, the 
Motor Pool Fund and the Self Insurance Fund.  The Motor Pool Fund accounts for the City’s 
central garage, and the Self Insurance Fund accounts for the employee dental, workers’ 
compensation, general liability, property, and automobile liability insurance. 

 

 The Davies Trust Fund is used to account for a donation by a private individual which is 
restricted for specific purposes.  These funds are not included in the government-wide financial 
statements.  The funds are to be used to help acquire, build, remodel, improve, support, and 
maintain the equipment, buildings, grounds, yard, gardens, and landscaped areas of the various 
parks, beaches, and recreational area located in Pacifica, to conduct related educational and 
recreational programs for the benefit of the general public. 

 
F. Basis of Accounting 
 
The Government-wide, Proprietary funds, and Fiduciary funds financial statements required by GASB 34 
are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  
Accordingly, all of the City’s assets and liabilities, including capital assets and long-term liabilities, are 
included in the accompanying Statement of Net Assets.  The Statement of Activities presents changes in 
net assets.   
 
Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which they are earned, 
while expenses are recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred regardless of when the 
related cash flows take place. 
 
Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to December 1, 1989, 
generally are followed in both government-wide and proprietary funds financial statements to the extent 
that those standards do not conflict with or contradict guidance of the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board.  Governments also have the option of following subsequent private-sector guidance for 
their business-type activities and enterprise funds, subject to this same limitation.  The government has 
elected not to follow subsequent private-sector guidance. 
 
The Governmental funds financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus, and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Accordingly, only current assets and 
liabilities (except for long-term advances from the City) are included in the Balance Sheet.  The Statement 
of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances present increases (revenues and other 
financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in net current assets.  Under 
the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which they 
become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period. 
 
The City considers all revenues reported in the governmental funds to be available if the revenue are 
collected within ninety days after fiscal year end.  The primary revenue sources, which have been treated 
as susceptible to accrual by the City, are property taxes, sales taxes, intergovernmental revenues, other 
taxes and investment earnings.  Expenditures are recorded in the accounting period in which the related 
fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on long-term debt and compensated absences, 
which are recognized as expenditures to the extent that they have matured.  Capital asset acquisitions 
are reported as expenditures in governmental funds.  Proceeds of long-term debt and acquisitions under 
capital leases are reported as other financing sources.  
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued): 
 
F. Basis of Accounting (Continued) 
 
Non-exchange transactions, in which the City gives or receives value without directly receiving or giving 
value in exchange, include taxes, grants, entitlements and donations.  On the accrual basis, revenue from 
taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied or assessed.  Revenue from grants, 
entitlements and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been 
satisfied. 
 
Grant revenues are recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements are met.  Under the 
terms of grant agreements, the City may fund certain programs with a combination of cost-reimbursement 
grants, categorical block grants and general revenues.  Thus, both restricted and unrestricted net assets 
may be available to finance program expenditures.  The City’s policy is to first apply restricted grant 
resources to such programs, followed by general revenues if necessary. 
 
G. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, the City considered cash and cash equivalents 
(investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase) as short term, highly liquid 
investments that are both readily convertible to known amounts of cash and so near their maturity that 
they present insignificant risk of changes in value because of changes in interest rates.  The City follows 
the practice of pooling the cash of all funds, including the City’s Enterprise and Internal Service Funds.  
 
H. Investments 
 
Investments are reported at fair value, except for investments that are not transferable and have terms 
that are not affected by change in market rates are reported at cost. 
 
Changes in fair value that occur during a fiscal year are recognized as revenues from use of money 
reported for that fiscal year.  Revenues from use of money include interest earnings, change in fair value, 
gains or losses realized upon the liquidation, maturity, or sale of investment and rental income.  Changes 
in the fair value of investments during this fiscal year were calculated and booked. 
 
I. Receivables and Payables 
 

Activities between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the 
end of the fiscal year are referred to as interfund receivables/interfund payables (i.e., the current portion 
of interfund loans) or advances to/from other funds (the noncurrent portion of interfund loans).  All other 
outstanding balances between funds are reported as interfund receivables or interfund payables.  Any 
residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and the business-type activities are 
reported in the government-wide financial statements as internal balances. 
 
All trade, tax, and note receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts if applicable, 
and estimated refunds due. 
 
J. Inventories and Prepaid Items 
 
General fund inventories are recorded as expenditures when consumed, rather than when purchased.  
These inventories are stated at cost, using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.  Inventories in the 
proprietary funds are stated at the lower of cost or market, and consist of expendable materials and 
supplies. 
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued): 
 
J. Inventories and Prepaid Items (Continued) 
 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods, and are recorded as 
prepaid items in both the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
Inventories and prepaid items, as reported in the fund financial statements, are offset by a reservation of 
fund balance for noncurrent assets in governmental funds, to indicate that they do not constitute 
resources available for appropriation.  
 
K. Deferred Charges and Deferred Loss on Refunding 
 
The costs of issuance of debt and discounts are being amortized on the straight line method over the life 
of the debt on the government-wide statements. 
 
The City had incurred a loss on the refunding of its debt.  The deferred loss is being amortized on the 
straight line method over the lesser of the remaining period of the old debt or the remaining period of the 
new debt on the government-wide statements. 
 
L. Capital Assets 
 
The City’s assets are capitalized at historical cost or estimated historical cost on the government-wide 
Statement of Net Assets and the proprietary fund financial statements.  City policy has set the 
capitalization threshold for reporting capital assets at $5,000.  Gifts or contributions of capital assets are 
recorded at fair value on the date donated.  Depreciation of capital assets is charged as an expense each 
year, and the total amount of accumulated depreciation taken over the years, is reported on the 
respective statements as a reduction in the book value of capital assets.    
 
M. Deferred Revenues 
 
Deferred revenues in governmental funds arise when potential revenue does not meet the “available” 
criteria for recognition in the current period.  Deferred revenue also arises when resources are received 
by the City before it has a legal claim to them (i.e., when grant monies are received prior to the incurrence 
of qualifying expenditures). 
 
N. Compensated Absences 
 
City employees accrue vacation, sick, holiday, and compensatory time off benefits.  An employee may 
accumulate vacation time equal to an amount that can be earned in a two and a half year period.  No 
cash compensation is payable for accrued vacation until the employee terminates employment.  Sick 
leave is compensated in cash only upon an employee's retirement.  Maximum limit per employee is 
$3,000 or one quarter of employee's sick leave credit, whichever is lower.  Two employee groups have 
elected to participate in a retirement health savings program and have directed vacation and limited sick 
leave cash out to separation of this program.  It is the City’s policy to allow employees to accumulate 
compensatory time instead of drawing overtime.  This accumulation may subsequently be exchanged into 
cash or time taken.     
 
All vacation pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial 
statements.  A liability for these amounts is reported in the governmental funds only when they have 
matured (such as vacation time, estimated to be paid upon retirement by the end of the fiscal year with 
expendable available financial resources).  Each fiscal year, an adjustment to the liability is made based 
on pay rate changes and adjustments for the current portion.  The General Fund is primarily responsible 
for the repayment of the governmental portion of compensated absences.  
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued): 
 
O. Property Tax Revenues 
 
California Constitution Article XIII A limits the combined property tax rate to one percent of a property’s 
assessed valuation.  Additional taxes may be imposed with voter approval.  Assessed value is calculated 
at one hundred percent of a property’s fair value, as defined by Article XIII A, and may be increased no 
more than two percent per year unless a change in ownership occurs.  The County of San Mateo collects 
the taxes and distributes them to taxing jurisdictions on the basis of assessed valuations subject to 
adjustments for voter-approved debt.  The City receives property taxes pursuant to an arrangement with 
the County known as the “Teeter Plan,” whereby the County assumes responsibility for the collection of 
delinquent taxes and pays the full allocation to the City.  The City recognizes property tax revenues 
(including tax increment revenues) to the extent of each year’s tax allocation received or to be received 
within 60 days after the end of each fiscal year. 
 
Incremental property tax revenues represent property taxes in a project area arising from increased 
assessed valuations over base valuations established at the inception of a project.  Incremental property 
taxes from a project area accrue to the Agency until all liabilities of the project have been repaid 
(including cumulative funds provided by the City of Pacifica).  After all such indebtedness has been 
repaid, all property taxes from a project area accrue to the various taxing authorities. 
 
The County assesses properties, bills for, collects, and distributes property taxes per the following schedule: 
 

 Secured  Unsecured 
 
   Valuation dates January 1   January 1 
 
   Lien/Levy dates July 1   July 1 

 
   Due dates 50% on November 1  July 1 
    50% on February 1 
 
    Delinquent as of  December 10  August 31 
    April 10 
 
The term “Unsecured” refers to taxes on personal property other than real estate, land, and buildings.  
These taxes are secured by liens on property being taxed. 
 
Q. Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.  Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
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NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued): 
 
R. New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
The City has implemented the requirements of GASB Statements No. 54 and No. 59 during the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2011. 
 
GASB Statement No. 54 – Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions 
 
This Statement is effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2010. The objective of this Statement is to 
enhance the usefulness of fund balance information by providing clearer fund balance classifications that can 
be more consistently applied and by clarifying the existing governmental fund type definitions. This Statement 
establishes fund balance classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which a 
government is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources reported in governmental 
funds. This Statement affects the Balance Sheet –Governmental Funds for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2011 by changing the classification of the fund balances.  See Note 12B for detailed information on the effect 
on these financial statements. 
 
GASB Statement No. 59 – Financial Instruments Omnibus 
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, the Agency implemented GASB Statement No. 59, “Financial 
Instruments Omnibus”. This Statement is effective for financial statements for periods beginning after June 
15, 2010. The objective of this Statement is to update and improve existing standards regarding financial 
reporting and disclosure requirements of certain financial instruments and external investment pools for which 
significant issues have been identified in practice. The implementation of this Statement did not have an 
effect on these financial statements.   

 
NOTE 2 - Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability: 
 
Budgetary information 
 
The City operates under the general law of the State of California, and annually adopts a budget to be 
effective July 1 for the ensuing fiscal year.  The City Manager submits a Preliminary Budget to the City 
Council on or about May 15 each year.  This Preliminary Budget is the fiscal plan for the ensuing twelve 
months starting July 1, and includes proposals for expenditures for operations and capital improvement, 
and the resources to meet them.  City Council conducts public hearings at Council Chambers before 
adopting the budget.  The Council approves total appropriations at the department level in the General 
Fund, and at the fund level in other funds.  The Budget is adopted by City resolution prior to June 30.  
 
The appropriated budget is prepared by fund, function, and department.  The City Manager is authorized 
to transfer budget appropriations within departments in conformance with the adopted policies set by the 
City Council.  All other transfers must be approved by the City Council.  Any revisions that alter the total 
expenditures of any department must be approved by the City Council.  Expenditures are budgeted at, 
and may not legally exceed, the department level for the General Fund and the fund level for Special 
Revenue, Debt Service, Capital Projects and Internal Service Funds.  Budgeted amounts shown are as 
originally adopted, or as amended by the City Council during the year.  During the fiscal year, several 
supplementary appropriations were necessary. 
 
Budgets for General, Special Revenue, Debt Service, Capital Projects, and Internal Service Funds are 
adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America (USGAAP).  Except for Capital Project Funds, appropriations lapse at fiscal year end and are 
rebudgeted for the coming year.  Capital Projects are budgeted for on a project basis rather than an 
annual basis; unexpended project authority is carried forward until the project is completed. 
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NOTE 2 - Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability (Continued): 
 
Encumbrances represent commitments related to unperformed contracts for goods or services.  
Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for the 
expenditure of monies are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation, is 
employed as an extension of formal budgetary integration in the governmental funds. Encumbrances 
outstanding at year-end are recorded as reservations of fund balance and do not constitute expenditures 
or liabilities because the commitments will be honored during the subsequent year. 
 
Excess of expenditures over appropriations  
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, expenditures exceeded the budgeted expenditures in the 
following funds: 

 

Expenditures

in excess

Funds  of budget

Major Funds

General Fund:

Community development 118,272$       

Parks, beaches & recreation 47,116           

Capital outlay 63,694           

Rockaway Beach Capital Projects Fund:

General government 12,790           

Interest and fiscal charges 199,001         

Debt Service Fund:

Principal 986,839         

Interest and fiscal charges 927,888         

Nonmajor Funds

Special Revenue Funds

Fire Assessment:

Capital outlay 74,762           

Redevelopment Agency Low/Mod Housing:

Interest and fiscal charges 17,930           

Disaster Accounting:

Public works 45,728           

Capital outlay 137,703         

Capital Project Fund

Highway 1 Improvement:

Public works 27,483           

 
The excess expenditures were funded by available financial resources. 
 
Deficit Fund Balances/Net Assets 
 
As of June 30, 2011 the following funds had a deficit fund balance: 
 

Major Governmental Fund:

Redevelopment Agency Rockaway Beach Capital Projects Fund 5,760,258$    

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds:

NPDES Stormwater Fund 55,123           

Disaster Accounting Fund 775,135         

Nonmajor Capital Project Fund:

Aircraft Noise Project Fund 197                 
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NOTE 3 - Cash and Investments: 
 

Cash and investments as of June 30, 2011 are classified in the accompanying financial statements as 

follows: 

 

Statement of net assets: 

Cash and investments  $ 14,152,318 

Cash and investments with fiscal agents  5,612,925 

 Statement of fiduciary net assets: 

  Cash and investments  3,484,010    

 

Total cash and investments  $ 23,249,253 

 

Petty cash  $  3,145 

Deposits with financial institutions     4,588,975 

Investments       18,657,133 

 

Total cash and investments  $ 23,249,253 

 

Investments Authorized by the California Government Code and the City’s Investment Policy 

 

The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for the City by the California 

Government Code (or the City’s investment policy, where more restrictive). The table also identifies 

certain provisions of the California Government Code (or the City’s investment policy, where more 

restrictive) that address interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration of credit risk. This table does not 

address investments of debt proceeds held by bond trustee that are governed by the provisions of debt 

agreements of the City, rather than the general provisions of the California Government Code or the 

City’s investment policy.  

 

Maximum

Percentage/ Maximum

Authorized Maximum Investment Investment

Investment Type Maturity of Portfolio in One Issuer

Commercial Paper 270 days 25% 15%

Bankers Acceptances 180 days 30% 15%

U.S. Treasury Obligations 5 years Unlimited None

U.S. Government Agency Issues 5 years Unlimited None

Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 5 years 30% 15%

Medium Term Corporate Notes 5 years 30% 15%

Money Market Fund (U.S. Treasury) N/A Unlimited None

San Mateo County Pooled Investment Funds N/A Unlimited None

State of California Local Agency 

  Investment Funds (State Pool) N/A 50,000,000$  50,000,000$  

Banks and Savings and Loan Time Deposits N/A 25% 15%  
 

Investments Authorized by Debt Agreements 

 

Investment of debt proceeds held by trustees is governed by provisions of the debt agreements, rather 

than the general provisions of the California Government Code or the City’s investment policy.  The table 

below identifies the investment types that are authorized for investments held by trustee.  The table also 

identifies certain provisions of these debt agreements that address interest rate risk, credit risk, and 

concentration of credit risk. 
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NOTE 3 - Cash and Investments (Continued): 

 

Maximum Maximum

Authorized Maximum Percentage Investment

Investment Type Maturity of Portfolio in One Issue

Municipal Bonds (AAA or AA) None None None

Commercial Paper (A or better) 270 days None None

U.S. Treasury Obligations None None None

U.S. Agency Securities None None None

Time Deposits None None None

Time Deposits (Unsecured) 30 days None None

Money Market Funds (AAA or AA) None None None

Investment Contracts (AAA or AA) None None None

Local Agency Investment Fund None None None

Certif icates of Deposit (A or better) 1 year None None

Bankers Acceptances (A or better) 1 year None None

 
Disclosures Relating to Interest Rate Risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 

investment.  Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value 

to change in market interest rates.  One of the ways that the City manages its exposure to interest rate 

risk is by purchasing a combination of shorter term and longer term investments and by timing cash flows 

from maturities so that a portion of the portfolio is maturing or coming close to maturity evenly over time 

as necessary to provide the cash flows and liquidity needed for operations. 

 

Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the City’s investments and those held by trustees to 

market interest rate fluctuations is provided by the following table that shows the distribution of the City’s 

investments by maturity: 
 

12 Months 13 Months

Totals Or Less Or More

State Investment Pool 15,325,749$  15,325,749$  -$              

Held by Trustees:

Money Market Funds 3,331,384      3,331,384      

    Totals 18,657,133$  18,657,133$  -$              

Investment Type

Remaining Maturity (in Months)

 
Investments with Fair Values Highly Sensitive to Interest Rate Fluctuations 

 

The City’s investments (including investments held by trustees) include the following investments that are 

highly sensitive to interest rate fluctuations (to a greater degree than already indicated in the information 

provided above). The City does not hold any specific investments that need to be reported here.   
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NOTE 3 - Cash and Investments (Continued): 

 

Disclosures Relating to Credit Risk 

 

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of 

the investment.  This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical 

rating organization.  Presented below is the minimum rating required by (where applicable) the California 

Government Code, the City’s investment policy, or debt agreements, and the actual rating as of fiscal 

year end for each investment type. 
 

Minimum Exempt

Legal From Not

Amount Rating Disclosure AAA Rated

State Investment Pool 15,325,749$  N/A -$           -$             15,325,749$    

Held by Trustees:

Money Market Funds 3,331,384      N/A 3,331,384    

    Totals 18,657,133$  -$           3,331,384$  15,325,749$    

Investment Type

Rating as of Fiscal Year End

 
Concentration of Credit Risk 

 

The investment policy of the City contains limitations on the amount that can be invested in any one 

issuer.  The City has no investments in any one issuer (other than money market funds and an external 

investment pool) that represent 5% or more of total City investments. 
 

Custodial Credit Risk 

 

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial 

institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover collateral 

securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  The custodial credit risk for investments is the 

risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g. broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government 

will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of 

another party.  The California Government Code and the City’s investment policy do not contain legal or 

policy requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits or investments, other 

than the following provision for deposits. The California Government Code requires that a financial 

institution secure deposits made by state or local governmental units by pledging securities in an 

undivided collateral pool held by a depository regulated under state law (unless so waived by the 

governmental unit).  The fair value of the pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least 

110% of the total amount deposited by the public agencies.  California law also allows financial 

institutions to secure City deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 150% of 

the secured public deposits. 

 

As of June 30, 2011, all of the City’s deposits with financial institutions in excess of federal depository 
insurance limits were held in collateralized accounts.   
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NOTE 3 - Cash and Investments (Continued): 

 

Investment in State Investment Pool 

 

The City is a voluntary participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is regulated by the 

California Government Code under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of California.  The fair 

value of the City’s investment in this pool is reported in the accompanying financial statements at 

amounts based upon the City’s pro-rata share of the fair value provided by LAIF for the entire LAIF 

portfolio (in relation to the amortized cost of that portfolio).  The balance available for withdrawal is based 

on the accounting records maintained by LAIF, which are recorded on an amortized cost basis. 
 
NOTE 4 - Notes Receivable: 
 
Notes receivable at June 30, 2011 consist of the following: 
 

Note Receivable Accrued Interest

Balance Balance

Senior note, secured by second deed of trust, due on 

August 25, 2035 250,000$           77,630$             

Junior note, secured by fourth deed of trust, due on 

August 25, 2035 350,000             108,682             

Total, secured 600,000             186,312             

Note receivable, unsecured 1,034,348          

Less allowance for doubtful account (1,034,348)         

Total, unsecured                       

Total, net 600,000$           186,312$           

 
The Agency has two notes due from National Church Residences of Pacifica Ca., an Ohio nonprofit 
corporation (“NCR”).  The notes totaling $600,000 are secured by Deeds of Trust and an assignment of 
rents, bear annual interest at 3% simple, and are repayable from “available surplus cash” as defined in 
the promissory notes.   
 
In addition, the City has a note due from NCR totaling $1,034,348.  This note is unsecured, bears annual 
interest at 3% simple, and is repayable in annual installments which commenced on August 1, 2001 and 
end on August 1, 2010.  Repayments vary from $85,000 to $260,000.  The City received $0 during the 
current fiscal year. The City has recorded an allowance for the total amount of this note as of June 30, 
2011.  NCR continues to explore options to restructure their existing loan to make the payment to the 
City. 
 
NOTE 5 - Capital Assets: 
 
All capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated cost if actual historical cost is not available.  
Donated capital assets are valued at their estimated fair value on the date donated. 
 
GASB Statement No.34 requires that all capital assets with limited useful lives be depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives.  The purpose of the depreciation is to spread the cost of the capital assets 
equitably among all users over the life of these assets.  The amount charged to depreciation expense         
each year represents that year’s pro-rata share of the cost of the capital assets.  Depreciation is provided 
using the straight–line method over its expected useful life.  Capital assets with a value of $5,000 or more 
are capitalized. 
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NOTE 5 - Capital Assets (Continued):  
 
The City has assigned the useful lives listed below to capital assets:  Buildings and improvements (25-30 
years); Police Vehicles (4 years); Other Vehicles (5-25 years); Machinery and Equipment (5-15 years); 
Collection System (20 years); and Infrastructure (15-30 years). 
 
The following is a summary of capital assets for governmental activities as of June 30, 2011: 
 

 

Governmental Internal  

Activities Service Total

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 38,788,118$      258,774$           39,046,892$      

Construction in progress 968,731             968,731             

39,756,849        258,774             40,015,623        

Depreciable capital assets:

Buildings and improvements 15,608,887        339,926             15,948,813        

Vehicles 4,893,277          4,893,277          

Machinery and equipment 1,113,073          146,907             1,259,980          

Infrastructure 21,459,618        21,459,618        

     Total 38,181,578        5,380,110          43,561,688        

   Less: accumulated depreciation (10,969,007)      (4,224,090)        (15,193,097)      

Depreciable capital assets, net 27,212,571        1,156,020          28,368,591        

Total capital assets, net 66,969,420$      1,414,794$        68,384,214$      

 
Combined Governmental capital asset activity for the fiscal year was as follows: 
 

Balance Balance

June 30, 2010 Increases Decreases June 30, 2011

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 39,046,892$     -$                -$                   39,046,892$     

Construction in progress 668,502            300,229       968,731            

39,715,394       300,229       40,015,623       

Depreciable capital assets:

Buildings and improvements 15,992,969       39,743         (83,899)          15,948,813       

Vehicles 5,114,658         229,921       (451,302)        4,893,277         

Machinery and equipment 1,182,290         77,690         1,259,980         

Infrastructure 21,191,336       268,282       21,459,618       

     Total 43,481,253       615,636       (535,201)        43,561,688       

Less: accumulated depreciation for

Buildings and improvements (5,818,005)       (503,791)     29,361           (6,292,435)       

Vehicles (4,087,119)       (295,604)     (4,382,723)       

Machinery and equipment (687,306)          (132,700)     451,302         (368,704)          

Infrastructure (3,433,913)       (715,322)     (4,149,235)       

(14,026,343)     (1,647,417)  480,663         (15,193,097)     

Depreciable capital assets, net 29,454,910       (1,031,781)  (54,538)          28,368,591       

Total capital assets, net 69,170,304$     (731,552)$   (54,538)$        68,384,214$     

 
 




